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ABSTRACT
During the First World War, Spain engaged in humanitarian activities, including 
caring for internees, to substantiate its neutrality. On the African front, Spain’s 
small Central African territory became a refuge for German troops as the French 
and British seized control of Cameroon. By bringing together voices from 
Germany, Britain, and Spain, as well as some Cameroonian perspectives, the 
article offers a fresh narrative about the transcontinental and transimperial 
experience of internment. The retreating German army collectively became 
the first European ‘refugees’ in Africa. This article surveys the multiple stages 
of their internment journey: the retreat from Cameroon into Spanish Guinea, 
internment on the island of Fernando Po and then in mainland Spain, and their 
eventual return to Germany or Cameroon, with some choosing to stay in Spain. 
Their experiences were transimperial not simply because they crossed imperial 
borders, but also because the infrastructure and conditions of internment 
conformed to a shared imperial ‘archive’ for the treatment of Europeans in 
captivity on African soil. The article also examines the lingering echoes of 
internment in the post-war period. By contributing to an overlooked case, this 
study aligns with broader efforts to globalise scholarship on the First World War, 
showcasing internment as a key example of the war’s global effects.
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Introduction

The Germans from the Cameroons are not behaving as correctly as they should. 
I have found out that at Saragossa one was killed by a señorita, whom he had 
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grossly insulted. The señorita answered the Hun in a dignified manner, but the 
German replied by trying to kiss her. The lady then hit him over the head with 
a seltzer water-bottle, and killed him.1

This dramatic incident was reported in The Daily Telegraph on 
23 June 1916 by the newspaper’s Madrid correspondent in an article 
titled ‘The Huns in Spain’. To bolster the account’s credibility and empha
sise its message, the reporter also included a quote from a telegram 
published in what he described as a ‘reliable Madrid paper’, El Mundo. 
The telegram allegedly read: ‘Public opinion is disgusted by the conduct 
of the interned Germans, who have already provoked several incidents 
and scandals here’. However, the governor of Zaragoza (Saragossa) pro
vided a rather different version of the water-bottle affair, stating: ‘The 
Germans from Cameroon interned in our city have behaved and continue 
to behave correctly in their social interactions. Although there were 
rumours that one of them had been killed by a lady, this was not 
confirmed upon conducting the necessary investigations’.2

How did Germans from Central Africa come to be interned in Spain? In 
the early months of 1916, German troops stationed in Cameroon, virtually 
surrounded by Allied forces on land and cut off from supplies by Allied 
control of the seas, crossed the Campo River into neutral Spanish Guinea 
(now Equatorial Guinea), a region known as Río Muni. This strategic move 
allowed them to seek refuge and evade the pursuing Allied forces, 
primarily British troops from neighbouring British Nigeria in the west 
and French forces from French Equatorial Africa (modern-day Chad, 
Central African Republic and Congo) in the south and east. The retreating 
German army included approximately 200 German officers, 6,000 
Schutztruppen made up of both European (German) and non-European 
troops recruited locally, around 6,000 Cameroonian women, and roughly 
4,000 servants and carriers. How did they become what Cameroonian 
historian Victor Ngoh termed the first European ‘refugees’ in Africa?3 Just 
three months later, these ‘Huns’ found themselves 3,300 kilometres away 
in neutral Spain.

The current article delves into the experiences of those who sought 
sanctuary in Spanish Guinea while escaping the British and French 
advance into Cameroon. It traces their journey from mainland Africa to 
the Iberian Peninsula between 1916 and 1920. As the episode reported in 
The Daily Telegraph illustrates, it is vital to consult Spanish sources that 
have often been disregarded in the limited international literature on this 
subject. Uniquely, the article weaves these Spanish materials into 
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a dialogue with British, German, French, and Cameroonian sources, shed
ding light on the global nature of internment during the Great War.

Significantly, the article contributes to the shift towards global history 
in the context of the First World War. Specifically, it connects to recent 
essential works that demonstrate the worldwide reach of internment and 
particular case studies of internment in the British imperial domain, such 
as the camps in Knockaloe (Britain), Fort Napier (South Africa), and 
Ahmednagar (India).4 Our aim is to illustrate the dynamic, globally mobile 
aspect of internment, coupled with an examination of internment in 
a neutral state.

While the focus of most existing studies has been on the belligerent 
powers, internment was also an important tool for neutral states. Indeed, 
internment of citizens from warring countries demonstrated one’s neu
trality, offered potential economic benefits in the form of captive labour 
and land cultivation, and created a channel for neutral states to influence 
the policies of belligerents.5 By focussing on a neutral power in an 
imperial context, we further highlight that the internment practices of 
the First World War were global.6

In thinking about internment in the First World War, particularly in the 
extra-European theatres, a transimperial perspective is useful. Captives 
often moved across imperial boundaries; the infrastructure of the intern
ment camps, or at least the expectation of what it should consist of, was 
universal across the European empires in Africa. This was important in the 
colonial context where white captives expected treatment to correspond 
to their racial status.

Studies on transimperialism ask us to consider European expansionism 
as a shared project and to move the history of imperialism away from the 
dominating nationalised perspective of the British Empire. Transimperial 
approaches shed light on how imperial competition, cooperation, and 
connectivity are entangled processes.7 The wartime management of 
internment in Spain – a neutral empire sandwiched between other 
imperial belligerents – provides a good case study for this approach. 
Although empires competed with one another for territory, influence, 
and resources, their approach to civilian and military administration was 
similar.8

Our case study sheds light on the transimperial dimension of this 
history, as the German internees traversed imperial borders; it also 
shows how internment involved cooperation among imperial powers, 
institutionalising internment practices worldwide. In the global network 
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of camps, internees became transimperial travellers who were often 
moved from one camp to another across imperial boundaries. Though it 
remained neutral, Spain provides a good example of this transimperial 
aspect of the war. It was not only a transit point for those being repa
triated to Germany, but also a final destination for many from the 
Cameroon front.

Spain also placed itself within the global humanitarian network of care 
for internees. Historiography on Spanish neutrality currently focuses on 
two main strands: first, as a passive stage where belligerent powers 
engaged in strategic, economic, and intelligence manoeuvres against 
each other9; and second, from a cultural history approach, by examining 
tensions and manifestations of allegiances to different belligerent camps 
by (mainly male) Spanish intellectuals.10 Recently, the latter approach has 
taken a transnational turn in the work of scholars like Maximiliano Fuentes 
Codera, who explores the transfer of cultural knowledge between 
Argentina and Spain during the war.11 Indeed, the rediscovery of archival 
material in the Royal Palace Archive reveals an active (neutral) participa
tion in the global conflict and brings Spain into the ambit of historical 
studies on humanitarianism.12

This is best highlighted in the work of the European War Office, a blend 
of personal and state humanitarian efforts located in Madrid’s Royal 
Palace, and through which Spain’s humanitarian efforts reached across 
social classes, rival camps, and continents. Established in 1915 in response 
to numerous requests directed to King Alfonso XIII from around the world 
seeking information on the whereabouts, treatment, and repatriation of 
loved ones – both soldiers and civilians – the Office amassed a significant 
collection of letters and over 180,000 files stored in the Royal Palace 
Archive. Spain’s humanitarian contributions demonstrate that neutrals 
took an active part in the war, and the case examined in this article further 
illustrates Spain’s concept of neutrality through its concern for the well- 
being of peoples from belligerent nations. As argued by Maartje 
Abbenhuis and Ismee Tames, ‘only by integrating the roles and experi
ences of neutral and belligerent states and communities across the world 
can we truly appreciate the conflict’s many metamorphoses and under
stand it as a “total war” and “global tragedy”’.13

The camp networks established during the Great War involved not only 
the internment of diverse peoples in various geographies but also move
ments of internees within these webs. Our article builds and expands on 
this insight by analysing a case study from a non-belligerent empire, 
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further underscoring the mobility of First World War internment. Most of 
the members of the German forces in Cameroon were of African descent. 
While very few of them were transferred to mainland Spain, our article 
sheds light on the significance of African-descended soldiers in belliger
ent armies.14

The remainder of the article is organised in five sections plus 
a conclusion. It starts with a literature review on German-Cameroonian 
internment in global contexts, followed by an exploration of the different 
stages and locations of the transimperial internment experience, begin
ning on Fernando Po and then moving to mainland Spain, including the 
later repatriation of many internees. It then turns to explore the echoes 
and legacies of the internment post-war before offering some concluding 
remarks.

German-Cameroonian Internment in a Global Context

The First World War, with its vast migrations of troops, carriers, and 
labourers across continents, showed (or reminded) many people that 
much of the world had been colonised.15 Africa was an important 
staging point in the war, particularly Egypt, which operated as the 
hub of the British Empire’s war effort via the Suez Canal. The outbreak 
of war in Europe in 1914 also saw renewed imperial competition in 
Africa as the Entente moved to take over Germany’s imperial posses
sions. Cameroon had been a German colony since 1884, but a relatively 
brief Anglo-French campaign meant that Germany had lost control of 
the region by 1916. With the expulsion of the German population, 
Cameroonians became aware of the transimperial nature of the con
flict, experiencing the transfer of their homeland from one empire to 
another. Indeed, many Cameroonians tried to influence the war’s out
come by taking up arms to fight alongside German forces or petition
ing the nascent League of Nations to prioritise their demands when 
determining how the colony would be managed after Germany’s 
defeat.16

In recent years, the decades after the First World War in Cameroon have 
received renewed attention; they have been covered in military histories 
of the conflict and in discussions on the internment of German settlers 
from the colony.17 The publication of modern analyses of the 
Cameroonian dimension of the First World War mean that it is no longer 
a forgotten front of the global conflict and, indeed, the study of the war 
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from this extra-European perspective helps, as Michelle Moyd states, to 
consider what ‘world’ in ‘First World War’ means.18

While the fighting was relatively light by First World War standards, the 
effects of the conflict in Cameroon were felt in tangible ways, with the 
defeat of German forces sparking a refugee crisis. George Njung estimates 
that around 100,000 people fled into Spanish Guinea in 1915.19 In what 
may be a surprising turn of events, there is now more scholarly work on 
the experience of Cameroonians than on the German officers.20 Thanks to 
the work of Robert O’Neill, we have illuminating accounts from soldiers 
and the women and children who followed them into internment, includ
ing testimony from one Godfred Buma, who was born in the camp on 
Fernando Po.21 The white Europeans who are the focus of this article were 
but a small minority of those caught up in the migratory chaos of the First 
World War. Therefore, it is understandable that the focus of previous 
research has been on the war’s impact on Cameroon.

However, these Europeans and their internment remain of interest as 
a case study of the connection between Africa and Europe during the 
Great War and the discourse on humanitarian assistance. The existing 
literature on the retreat of German forces into Spanish Guinea and their 
evacuation to mainland Spain is fragmented and, in certain instances, 
lacking depth from a historian’s perspective. Despite titles suggesting 
comprehensive coverage of the internment of Germans in Spanish terri
tories, none properly addresses the entire internment journey.

Up to now, the focus was on specific geographic sections of the overall 
experience. For instance, Jacqueline de Vries’ extensively researched 
piece concentrates on internment in Fernando Po, omitting the intern
ment in mainland Spain.22 (Indeed, one of the authors of the current 
article, Mahon Murphy, is guilty of the same omission in his 2017 work on 
internment and the collapse of the German empire.) De Vries’ approach is 
largely rooted in anthropological research in Cameroon, specifically 
centred on missionary activities. Although the internment is viewed 
mainly through a British lens, de Vries herself acknowledges the necessity 
of delving into ‘Spanish and French archives and publications [. . .] to 
clarify the Spanish and French perspectives’.23

In contrast, Eduardo González Calleja’s work centres on mainland 
Spain, specifically delving into the nature of internment at the major 
sites – Alcalá, Pamplona, and Zaragoza – and drawing on select Spanish 
sources that offer a detailed exploration of escape attempts.24 By analys
ing the personal writings (ego-documents) of four German internees, 
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literary scholar Isabel Gutierrez Koester presents a distinctive viewpoint. 
Despite lacking a detailed account of the Germans’ arrival in Spain, her 
study suggests that the German community who remained in Spain after 
the war became influential.25

As argued by Maartje Abbenhuis and Ismee Tames, ‘if we take seriously 
the premise that what set this war apart from all its predecessors was its 
global reach [. . .], then we must do more to understand and appreciate 
the roles played by neutral states and neutral subjects’.26 By adopting 
a global approach encompassing various sources and geographical 
standpoints, this article explores previously overlooked themes and high
lights the internment of Germans from Cameroon in Spain as an example 
of transimperial entanglement during the First World War. This case study 
shows that even within neutral territories, internment entailed mobility 
and, as with the transfer of German captives from Fernando Po to main
land Spain, it often involved moving from one continent to another.

Germans as Guests: from Fernando Po to Spain

A British telegram reported that on 16 April 1916, a convoy comprising two 
Spanish steamships, Isla de Panay and Cataluña, escorted by the Spanish 
warship Extremadura, had set sail from Fernando Po for Las Palmas and Cádiz. 
Isla de Panay carried 282 interned Germans, including the former German 
governor of Cameroon, Karl Ebermaier, while Cataluña transported 555 
persons.27 According to reports from the British ambassador to Spain, 
Arthur Hardinge, Prime Minister Álvaro de Figueroa (the Count of 
Romanones) had informed him that these refugees would be relocated to 
Logroño, Cuenca, Zaragoza, Teruel, and Orduña.28 However, on 4 May 1916, 
the British Embassy in Madrid notified Foreign Minister Edward Grey that, 
although the convoy had halted in Las Palmas and was still en route to Cádiz, 
the refugees would be allocated to Pamplona, Zaragoza, Aranjuez, and Alcalá 
de Henares. Only the ex-governor and the commanding officer, along with 
a small group of support staff, were to be interned at Madrid. Additionally, 
the Convent of Orduña had been designated for Catholics.29

Upon their early morning arrival in Cádiz on 4 May, the internees from 
Cameroon boarded the first train bound for Alcalá de Henares at 11:35 am, 
swiftly followed by a second train departing for Pamplona at 12:35 pm. 
A subset of 16 individuals from the contingent, indisposed due to various 
ailments, were granted permission to remain in Cádiz under the care of the 
military hospital. Prior to their departure, all internees were asked to sign 
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a written pledge of honour, committing to a temporary constraint – lasting 
14 days – while awaiting authorisation from Germany to endorse a more 
comprehensive internment agreement for the duration of the war.30

This procedure triggered a series of diplomatic exchanges through notes 
verbales between the Spanish and German authorities. The Berlin govern
ment asserted its unwillingness to sanction a broad commitment, advocating 
instead for specific pledges delineating permissible activities, such as strolls or 
participation in specific activities.31 Nevertheless, Spanish documentation 
reveals that the German contingent from Cameroon extended their commit
ments in late May and once again in June, highlighting a nuanced evolution in 
the unfolding diplomatic negotiations regarding their internment in Spain.32

To illustrate the variety of the internee population, we list here the names 
of six women interned at Aranjuez, as recorded by the head military officer of 
the region upon their arrival: Olga Ramos Mayer, the wife of Wilhelm Mayer; 
Mathilde Schüttel, wife of Wilhelm Schüttel; Deva Siebert, wife of Johannes 
Siebert; two sisters from the Pallottiner Mission, Sister Paneratia Heine and 
Sister Dorothea Petz; and Katharina (listed as Catarina) Atangana, described 
as ‘Black’.34 Wilhelm Mayer was an engineer who had evidently married 
a Spanish woman, while Schüttel and Siebert were Protestant missionaries. 
It seems that Katharina Atangana’s father, Karl the Paramount Leader of the 
Ewondo-Bane, had sent his daughter with the missionaries to avoid intern
ment and also to continue her education in Germany.35 Her father would 
later follow the European officers to Spain and go to great lengths to be 
reunited with his daughter so that they could return to Cameroon together.36

Of the 197 males between the ages of 17 and 55 interned at Pamplona, 
38 were civilians, while 159 were military personnel (Table 1). Among the 
civilians, a wide range of professions was noted, the most common, with 
nine individuals, being ‘Kaufmann’ or merchant, followed by 
‘Rechnungsbeamter’ (clerk), with three, and ‘Lokomotivführer’ (train con
ductor), also with three. There was also a ‘Pflanzer’ (planter), Wilhelm 
Hornung, and a ‘Sägemeister’ (sawmill supervisor), Xaver Gerstner.37

Table 1. Number of Germans interned in Spain, compiled on 19 May 1916.33

Zaragoza Pamplona Aranjuez Alcalá Cádiz Total

Women 14 1 6 0 0 21
Children 7 0 2 0 0 9
Missionaries 8 0 6 2 1 17
Medical and sanitary personnel 25 19 0 5 2 51
Males aged 17–55 302 197 24 157 5 685
Males under 17 and over 55 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 356 217 38 164 8 783
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As the table above shows, the majority of males from the German- 
Cameroonian contingent arriving in Spain were interned at Zaragoza; this 
group included the largest number of civilians (which also accounts for 
the high number of women in Zaragoza) as well as a mix of sub-officers 
and soldiers (see Table 1). As reported by a local newspaper in April 1917, 
a group of interned Germans in Zaragoza, together with some local 
residents, rented vacant lots and transformed them into ‘a magnificent 
football field’.38 The team who played there was referred to in various 
reports as either Alemanes or Camerón FC.39 In contrast, most sub-officers 
were interned in Alcalá de Henares, while most rank-and-file soldiers were 
sent to Pamplona.40 Although there was some overlap, internees were 
grouped primarily by status (civilian or military) and military rank.

Only senior officials of the German contingent were permitted to 
remain in central Madrid. Governor Ebermaier, was interned at the 
Palace Hotel in Madrid. In mid-May 1916, the German ambassador, Max 
von Ratibor und Corvey (Prince Ratibor), requested permission for 
Ebermaier to visit the various internment sites so that he might have 
direct contact with his former troops, arguing that ‘questions will often be 
raised [by the internees], prompting a desire for verbal treatment’.41 

Following internal government consultations with the President of the 
Spanish Government, the Count of Romanones, the request was denied, 
noting that ‘Ebermaier lacks the authority and faculties to carry out, in our 
territory, the functions he seeks to attribute to himself’.42 The commu
nication to the German ambassador also stated that Ebermaier ‘should 
not be absent from Madrid’.43 Prince Ratibor protested the proscription, 
citing the lack of a clear reason, though he expressed his belief that 
Ebermaier’s confinement in Madrid would not be an indefinite 
arrangement.44

Despite the initial refusal, the Spanish government eventually per
mitted Ebermaier to travel to the internment locations. This special dis
pensation was granted specifically so that Ebermaier could accompany 
a Chilean delegate, Mr. Wachowski, from the Bureau International 
‘Kriegsgefangenenhilfe der christlichen Vereine junger Männer’, and 
solely for the purpose of addressing matters that concerned the internees’ 
situation.45 Additionally, the opening of an office was sanctioned to 
handle the liquidation of assets belonging to the German imperial gov
ernment that Ebermaier and his staff had brought from Cameroon. In late 
October, the French Embassy complained to Minister of State Amalio 
Gimeno that Ebermaier, along with the commander of the 
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Schutztruppen, Emil Zimmerman, had established an ‘Imperial 
Government of Cameroon’ in Spain, headquartered at Calle Fortuny 3, 
and was receiving correspondence under the address ‘Kamerun- 
Madrid’.46 In response, Gimeno promptly wrote to Ratibor, expressing 
the expectation that the liquidation of assets should have concluded by 
now, and therefore, the office no longer needed to remain open.

Ebermaier was a prolific writer of correspondence to the German 
colonial office about the plight of the internees. In addition, the public 
memory of the internment of Germans from Cameroon in Spain was 
already being formed while the war and the internment were ongoing. 
Accounts of the war in Cameroon were written by those who were 
directly involved in the conflict, whether as soldiers or interned/expelled 
civilians and missionaries. An example of the content of these publica
tions is Hermann Skolaster’s Krieg im Busch, which devotes much atten
tion to the transfer to Fernando Po and then to Spain.

Skolaster was a military chaplain and member of the Pallottine Catholic 
order; he penned a fond memory of his and his fellow Germans’ arrival in 
Seville from Fernando Po. While they had been warmly received at all 
their stops, the station in Seville was teeming with people: ‘Every German 
who could get off work was present. But the Spanish population also vied 
with the Germans to give us a pleasant surprise. First there was free beer. 
Listen and be amazed. Free beer for 800 people who came from Africa 
and are descendants of those from both sides of the Rhine!’47

Indeed, the warm welcome and good treatment afforded to the 
Germans during their captivity in Spain was an established narrative 
during the war. Greta Kühnhold, a missionary repatriated from 
Cameroon, noted in an article in the 20 July 1916 edition of the 
Deutsche Kolonialzeitung, ‘it is well known that the Spanish showed us 
Germans great hospitality’.48 As a chaplain, Skolaster was able to return to 
Germany by the end of 1916. His war memoir was published in 1918, and 
he finished the text by noting that he was due to be drafted into the army 
again to serve as a military chaplain on the Eastern Front. It is difficult to 
judge how many people actually read his memoir, but it is one of the most 
extensive accounts of the transfer from Fernando Po to Spain to be 
published in wartime.

The positive impression of Spain was further reinforced by the official 
Spanish position on internment – Skolaster and his colleagues had to 
pledge not to move residence and needed permission from the local 
commandant when travelling, but in other respects he noted that there 
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was very little to distinguish Germans already residing in Spain from those 
brought from Africa.49 Nevertheless, and despite efforts to learn Spanish, 
the internees felt like strangers in Spain, money was scarce, and they 
longed for home.50

During this period, many letters concerning Germans from Cameroon 
were received at the European War Office in the Spanish Royal Palace.51 

Although most of the inquiries are from May or June 1916, the first cases 
involving German individuals in Cameroon actually predate the German 
army’s retreat to Spanish Guinea. One such case was Elisabeth Neuse’s 
inquiry (originating from Lüneburg near Hannover) about her two broth
ers, notably the eldest, Eberhard, who had been stationed in Yaoundé and 
had not been heard from for a year.52 One of the earliest appeals follow
ing the German troops’ flight to Guinea came from Sophie Wieczorkiwicz 
in Berlin, seeking information about her fiancé, Max Hermann Schmidt, 
originally from Thüringen.53

Numerous family members seeking information about their loved ones 
who corresponded from Germany did so after reading in the magazine 
Kolonie und Heimat, the official journal of the Women’s Association of the 
German Colonial Society (Organ des Frauenbundes der Deutschen 
Kolonialgesellschaft), that their relatives had been interned in Spanish 
territories. Reports of Germans from Cameroon in Spanish territory gave 
tentative numbers of those held, to be confirmed by Spanish 
authorities.54 The newspaper further organised a collection drive to aid 
the internees who had come from Cameroon, explaining that Crown 
Princess Cecilie would send the goods to Spain on 5 June 1916. This effort 
would not only bring much-needed supplies to the Germans in Spain, but 
was also to act as an information mission to obtain concrete details on 
who was being held in Spain.55

Kolonie und Heimat and the Deutsche Kolonialzeitung were the 
main public sources of information on the whereabouts of 
Germans from Cameroon; both reprinted telegrams from Madrid 
verbatim and published internee lists.56 In a report on their arrival 
in Spain, lacking any photographic material of the internees them
selves, the newspaper featured stock pictures of the cities of Cádiz 
and Madrid, with the Royal Palace featuring prominently, along with 
a description of the warm welcome extended to the new arrivals by 
the Spanish public.57
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Perfect Freedom? Internment on Fernando Po

Despite the transfers to Spain, a great many internees remained in camps 
on Fernando Po. Islands, by their very geography, were prime locations 
for internment camps. Examples during the First World War are numer
ous, from the Isle of Man in Britain to Matiu/Somes in New Zealand and 
Ninoshima in Japan. Fernando Po was no different.

On 13 September 1916, Ángel Barrera, the governor of Spanish Guinea, 
penned a detailed letter to General Juan Loriga at the Royal Palace in 
Madrid, who served as the king’s assistant secretary. Born in Burgos in 
1863, Barrera served as governor twice, initially for a brief period from 
September 1906 to February 1907, and subsequently for a much longer 
tenure from September 1910 to February 1924. He passed away only 
three years later, in 1927. Barrera’s brothers, José and Emilio, also pursued 
military careers: José María served as vice admiral of the Armada and as 
aide-de-camp to Alfonso XIII, while Emilio held a senior position in the 
Spanish African Army and later became a lieutenant general. Barrera’s 
support within the palace, coupled with his strong relationships with both 
liberal and conservative politicians, partly explains his 14-year tenure in 
the colony. Barrera authored ‘What the Spanish possessions in the Gulf of 
Guinea are and what they should be’ (Lo que son y lo que deben ser las 
posesiones españolas del Golfo de Guinea) in 1907.58

Although the new Colonial Charter, the Estatuto Orgánico de la Colonia, 
of July 1904 allowed for a civilian to hold the governorship of the Spanish 
Territories of the Gulf of Guinea (Spanish Equatorial Guinea’s official 
name), Barrera, like nearly all his predecessors, was a naval officer with 
ample prior experience (in the Philippines for Barrera, and either the 
Philippines or the Antilles for his forerunners). The statute specified that 
the governor would be appointed freely by the Council of Ministers 
through a royal decree, upon the recommendation of the minister of 
state. While the governor was required to report to the minister of state, 
his powers were extensive. Article 13 granted him authority to ‘commu
nicate directly on colonial matters with Spain’s representatives, diplo
matic and consular agents in Africa, and with the superior authorities of 
foreign territories or colonies’. Importantly, Article 3 empowered the 
governor to ‘take whatever measures deemed necessary to preserve 
peace within and security outside the territories under his charge, while 
keeping the Ministry of State duly informed’.59 These powers would shape 
Barrera’s actions throughout the war and during the internment of the 
German Cameroonians.
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In his 1916 letter, Barrera included several photographs (see Figures 
1, 2 and 3) showing the new internment camps in Fernando Po, 
believing that the king would take pleasure in seeing them. These 
photographs – published here for the first time in an international 
scholarly journal – were attached to General Barrera’s private letter to 
the king’s private secretary, intended to be shared and shown to 
Alfonso XIII, so they were not for public consumption. Barrera 
described how the camps were constructed on what was once an 
ancient forest, ‘a centuries-old forest where a machete had never 
been used to clear the underbrush’. He mentioned that one of the 
camps was erected on the neglected portion of a property belonging 
to a German, Moritz, which had also been a forest, and that ‘the 
immense work that has been done now truly results in a beauty’. 
While enthusiastic about the quality of the camps, Barrera complained 
that ‘the entire internment has taken ten years off my life’.60 He 
reported that, at that moment, the headcount of internees in 
Fernando Po had reached 15,000. A British survey suggested similar 
figures – around 50 German officers, along with 10,000 native troops 
and 5,000 carriers.61 Barrera detailed the severe scarcity of food from 
16 April to 26 June, acknowledging that this situation ‘kept me awake 
at night’.62

Figure 1. Map of the Island of Fernando Po with newly-built internment camps, sent by 
Barrera with a letter addressed to the king’s private secretary. Box 188, Royal Palace 
Archive.
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Figure 2. Photographs of the internment camps, sent by Barrera with a letter addressed to 
the king’s private secretary. Box 188, Royal Palace Archive.

Figure 3. German Cameroonian military musicians interned in Fernando Po. Box 188, 
Royal Palace Archive.
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On 28 October 1916, the British War Office urged the Foreign Office in 
London to collaborate with the French government. The joint effort 
aimed to press the Spanish government on the swift implementation of 
negotiated plans: the evacuation of all remaining German personnel in 
Fernando Po to Spain and the repatriation of native troops and non- 
combatants to Cameroon.63 On 6 October 1916, another report from 
the British senior naval officer in the West Coast of Africa underscored 
the importance of removing the Germans from Fernando Po. It empha
sised the limited troops available to both the French and the British in the 
region – approximately 1,000 British troops in Nigeria and a similar French 
contingent – compared to the 10,000 German soldiers in Fernando Po, 
supervised by ‘a Spanish guard of 125 native troops’.64

In November and December 1916, about eight months after most of 
the German officers in Cameroon had arrived in the Iberian Peninsula, the 
British and French diplomatic corps in Madrid expressed a strong desire 
for the relocation of all remaining German officers in Cameroon to main
land Spain and the return of Cameroonians who had sought refuge on the 
island of Fernando Po to Cameroon. According to a Spanish Ministry of 
State (Spanish Foreign Office) policy report dated 20 November 1916, the 
government had agreed to this and formulated a plan to ensure the 
availability of military ships, a commercial transatlantic vessel, and 
Spanish officers familiar with the German language for the venture, 
although a specific date had not been set.

Pursuing the matter and striving for prompt action, the British ambas
sador in Spain, Hardinge, corresponded with Spanish Minister of State 
Gimeno. Hardinge asked Gimeno to provide a date ‘at which the natives 
may be expected to land in the Río Muni Colony, so that their arrival there 
may coincide as closely as possible with that of the Officer to be deputed 
[. . .] by the French and British Governments’. Their proposal involved 
dispatching a British and a French officer to assure, in Hardinge’s words, 
‘the natives that they could rely not merely upon impunity for their past 
services to our enemies but also upon friendly treatment at the hands of 
the new Allied Authorities in the conquered German Territory’.65

By then, Valentine Phillimore, the British senior officer in the West 
Coast of Africa, had already corresponded with Barrera. In his letter, 
Phillimore relayed that he had received information indicating a definite 
promise from Count Romanones, then Spanish prime minister, regarding 
the swift transfer of German prisoners interned in Fernando Po. Phillimore 
specifically sought details, including their names, ranks, and the ship on 
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which they would embark.66 On the same day, Barrera responded from 
Santa Isabel, stating that he had no information from his government 
regarding the matter.67

However, a newly referenced telegram from Barrera, dated 
18 December 1916, seems to have drastically changed the course of 
events. Barrera, leveraging his on-the-ground knowledge, made 
a compelling case to Madrid, arguing that transporting the 
Cameroonians back to Río Muni was morally unacceptable. He explained 
to the Spanish government that ‘sending the natives to the mainland 
during rainy season condemns many to death. As their camp was just 
being rebuilt after the terrible crisis suffered during the war and evacua
tion, it is not the same to have brought them from the mainland as it is to 
take them from here to a place where everything is lacking’. He further 
expressed that the potential ‘disaster and moral responsibility would be 
immense’ if they were to die now.68

If the intention was to relocate them to the mainland, Barrera urged 
a modified approach in an attempt to salvage the situation. His proposal 
involved sending an initial group of 200 individuals to build shelters in Río 
Muni for the subsequent arrivals, gradually moving them in smaller 
groups. Barrera politely acknowledged in the telegram that his recom
mendation was motivated by ‘patriotism’ despite conflicting with Spain’s 
official policy. He even offered to resign if his reasons were not persuasive, 
citing his own ‘sincere admission of my inadequacy’ in satisfactorily 
resolving this issue in the event all the Cameroonians were transported 
immediately to mainland Spanish Guinea.69 Barrera made it clear that he 
would not be responsible for implementing such a policy.

Hence, it is not surprising that the internationally published literature, 
predominantly relying on British sources, portrays the Spanish governor 
of Guinea as pro-German.70 In fact, British archival materials at times 
explicitly label Barrera as ‘pro-German’71 or mention his ‘known 
sympathies’.72 However, the reality depicted in the archival sources is 
more complex. In this context, the Allies appear to be the ones attempt
ing to coerce or pressure the Spanish government, while Barrera aims to 
keep the Allies out of all decision-making in Spanish Guinea with regard 
to the internees on account of practical feasibility, a duty to safeguard the 
internees, a sense of moral obligation, and to confirm Spain’s neutrality. 
This underscores the importance of including sources from neutral coun
tries to gain a more nuanced understanding of the interactions between 
belligerent parties regarding internment.
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In a report detailing a conversation with Barrera in late December, 
Phillimore conveyed that Barrera had informed him of his intention to 
resign because he considered the transfer of people a breach of the 
Hague Convention. Barrera suggested that the Allies must have pressured 
his government to consent to such a measure and predicted that the 
Allies would eventually pay for the wrong done to Spain. Phillimore 
countered that it was inconceivable that the Allies would threaten 
Spain. He argued that the Hague Convention had been consistently 
violated by the Germans, reducing its significance, and that friendly 
arrangements between governments should prevail. Phillimore asserted 
that ‘neither he nor I had any voice in their decisions, that all we had to do 
was to carry out orders’.73

In August 1917, Barrera received letters addressed to the French 
governor of Cameroon, originally written between January and 
May 1917 by Cameroonians in Yaoundé or Douala. Though addressed 
to the governor, these letters included content intended for their 
family members interned in Fernando Po, in hopes that the French 
governor would forward them. The correspondence predominantly 
pleaded for the return of their relatives to Cameroon. These missives 
varied from emotional pleas, such as, ‘I want to bring back all my 
brothers and sisters. I am very sad here and cannot live well without 
my siblings’, expressed by Vitus Atangana,74 to more reasoned peti
tions, such as, ‘we can’t sustain ourselves without you’, and broader 
concerns affecting the entire community. For instance, ‘We lament the 
absence of our Chief Efa-Elle [Karl Atangana] here in Yaoundé. No 
community can exist without a Chief, and a forest will not be called 
a forest without its large trees. Similarly, we cannot live without our 
Chief. We will not find peace here without the return of our respected 
Chiefs; our country will soon decline. We lament with tears the absence 
of our respected Chiefs in Fernando Poo’.75

On 18 February 1918, Barrera shared with the French governor in 
Douala several letters from the internees written in response to the 
missives their families in Cameroon had sent earlier. Barrera conveyed 
his attempts to persuade the internees to return, noting that Max Esengue 
was the sole individual to accept the offer, while all the others had chosen 
to remain in Fernando Po. Barrera expressed regret for his unsuccessful 
persuasion but indicated that after 16 months of war, the Cameroonians 
had found solace in the Spanish colony. As indicated to the French 
governor in an earlier missive dated 9 October 1917, ‘they realise they 
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face no difficulties in this colony, and by following the laws, they enjoy 
perfect freedom. They have cleared the land where they have settled, 
built their houses, made plantations, and are content, not desiring to 
leave for the moment’.76

Internment in Spain: Experience and Repatriation

On her return to her home in Hamburg in March 1915, Magda Bubeck was 
one of many to fill out a questionnaire issued by the Abteilung für 
Requisitionen in Strafsachen (Department for Requisitions in Criminal 
Matters). Although the results of the questionnaire were never used to 
put forward a legal challenge to counter Allied anti-German propaganda, 
they provide interesting biographies of the women and men of non- 
combatant age who were repatriated to Germany in early 1915 after the 
fall of Douala.

At the time of the outbreak of war in Europe, Bubeck had been living in 
the coastal town of Kribi for about two years with her husband, Gustav, 
who was a buyer for the Lehman & Bartels company based there. 
Following German orders, she and her husband moved to Buea when 
war broke out. After British forces arrived in the town in November, she 
was taken to Douala along with other German women from the colony. 
She and the other women had to sign an oath not to commit any 
seditious acts and to hand over any weapons in their possession.77

From Douala they were taken to Victoria (now Limbé) to await repa
triation on the British steamship Appam. Reflecting on her departure for 
Europe, Bubeck noted, ‘You can imagine how horrible the thought was to 
have to leave our beautiful colony, where the Germans had created a bit 
of culture with so much effort and diligence. How would we find it again? 
A rainy season will overgrow everything. But we could do nothing about 
it, we were prisoners and had to submit’.78

On board the Appam, the passengers were not sure whether they 
would be repatriated or interned in one of the Allied colonies. They 
were particularly worried that they would be sent to Dahomey (Benin), 
where, according to rumours circulating among German settlers early in 
the war, internees were treated poorly. Only upon arrival in Liverpool did 
they find out that the women on board were to be sent back to Germany 
and that the US consul would organise accommodation for them in 
Britain while they awaited their onward journey from Tilbury to 
Hamburg via Rotterdam. Bubeck’s statement is the most detailed of 
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those that have survived in German archives. She also related her experi
ences in the press, noting that she had published articles in the Rostocker 
Zeitung and Kolonie und Heimat.

She heard from her husband that their house in Kribi had been looted 
and vandalised. Indeed, in Kolonie und Heimat she wrote that an 
employee of her husband’s had caught two thieves exiting the property 
with a large bundle of her silver and crystal. Both were apparently shot on 
the spot.79 While she did not state how her husband had been able to 
contact her, she noted in her statement to the Abteilung für Requisitionen 
in Strafsachen that he was then in Río Muni. While Magda Bubeck was 
journeying back to Germany, he had escaped into Spanish territory with 
the German forces.

However, Magda’s stay in Germany was brief. In September 1916, 
approximately five months after his arrival on the Iberian Peninsula, 
Gustav Bubeck sought permission from Spanish Minister of State 
Gimeno, through the German ambassador, to leave his internment in 
Madrid.80 Serving as an interpreter for Ebermaier, Gustav intended to 
travel to Vigo, the Spanish coastal town where his wife was due to 
arrive on a ship from neutral Amsterdam on 21 September. The 
Spanish ministers of both war and state agreed to the request, on 
the condition that Gustav and Magda promptly return to Madrid upon 
her arrival.81

Another civilian internee, Hans Paschon, based in Zaragoza, also 
embarked on a journey to Vigo to reunite with his wife. This arrange
ment highlights the practice of allowing the wives of internees to enter 
Spain and re-join their husbands. Despite not being officially interned 
themselves, these women had a globally mobile experience, journeying 
from Cameroon to Britain, Germany, and Spain, while their husbands 
navigated internment in Cameroon and Spain during the course of 
the war.

In mainland Spain, on 11 December 1917, a group of German civilians 
who had journeyed from Fernando Po with the German officers peti
tioned the Spanish government. They requested compensation equiva
lent to the salary provided to German military internees. Their plea 
stemmed from a discrepancy between the assurances given by the 
German government before their voyage to Spain and the reality they 
encountered upon arrival. The German civilians were promised freedom 
in Spain, as they had not taken up arms. However, upon reaching Spain, 
they were classified as internees.
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Despite their efforts to communicate with Germany for their release, 
they had not made any progress. As a result, they now sought rights 
associated with internment, particularly requesting reimbursement for 
their upkeep. In their letter, they proposed a compensation of six pesetas 
per day, accounting for the rising cost of provisions, starting from the day 
they had been interned initially, nearly 20 months earlier.82 The letter, 
signed by Alfred Rittersdorf and 18 other male German internees, was 
dispatched from Zaragoza, though it was also written on behalf of some 
civilians interned in Pamplona. Another letter from Rittersdorf, dated 
26 February 1918, arrived at the Ministry of State to remind them of the 
initial request.83 This communication referred to the application of the 
articles of the Hague Convention to the internees. Simultaneously, Spain 
and Germany were already engaged in correspondence regarding the 
Spanish government’s decision to approve the request made by the 
group of German civilians.

An illuminating incident characterises the Spanish government’s inter
actions with the diverse individuals who arrived from Cameroon in 1916. 
The group comprised not only civilian and military Germans but also 
African house servants. Paul Bieger, a German military officer interned in 
Zaragoza, for example, had brought along his house servant, Nsango. 
However, in early 1917, Bieger chose to fire him. Following his dismissal, 
Nsango travelled to Barcelona with the aim of boarding a ship back to 
Cameroon.84 The ship company, presuming he was interned and lacking 
a passport or expedited papers from the Spanish Ministry of State, denied 
him boarding.85 This predicament prompted intervention from the 
Spanish minister of state, affirming that Nsango was not interned and 
therefore free to depart Spain, and that he enjoyed the same rights as any 
other non-interned German subject in neutral Spain.86

Many internees actively sought employment during their internment, 
often requiring relocation to a different city. In such cases, the German 
ambassador would request authorisation from the relevant Spanish 
authorities. An illustrative example is Wilhelm Albrecht, a military internee 
based in Zaragoza, who secured a position with the jewellery maker 
Nelken on Calle de la Cruz 15 in Madrid.87 This opportunity, offered by 
Julio Nelken, a Prussian Jew settled in Madrid since the early 1890s, 
prompted Albrecht to seek a four-month leave to travel and stay in 
Madrid, starting in December 1917.88

In August 1918, Albrecht once more applied for leave, this time for 
three months, with the aim of attending courses organised by the Board 
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for the Expansion of Scientific Studies and Research (Junta de Ampliación 
de Estudios e Investigaciones Científicas) in Madrid, the principal organisa
tion in Spain for promoting research and scientific education. His goal was 
to further enrich the knowledge he had acquired during his two years of 
study at the University of Zaragoza.89 Although Albrecht was granted 
permission to relocate, he could not attend the courses due to the 
influenza epidemic.90 Consequently, Albrecht sought permission to 
extend his stay in Madrid, citing the ‘initiation of commercial relations’ 
in the city.91 The extension was granted and allowed Albrecht to remain in 
Madrid until the conclusion of his internment. In March 1919, having 
secured employment in Zaragoza, he expressed the desire to return 
there.92 Albrecht’s example highlights how Spain controlled and 
authorised the regular movement of internees within the country. It 
also throws light on the resilience of internees who not only sought to 
sustain themselves through employment but also demonstrated a keen 
interest in education and professional development.

The Spanish authorities also had to resolve the issue of the internment 
of the remaining Cameroonians on Fernando Po. About a fortnight fol
lowing the signing of the Treaty of Versailles on 10 July 1919, Barrera sent 
a message to the minister of state indicating that he had initiated the 
return of the interned Cameroonians from Fernando Po. Four hundred 
individuals had departed the previous day, but Barrera mentioned the 
need to conduct the process gradually.93 Although the new French 
government in Cameroon pressed for completion within 20 days due to 
the French governor’s desire to return to France, Barrera estimated it 
might take up to three months.94 Barrera also noted the challenges of 
convincing the internees to return to Cameroon. Many hesitated due to 
the long distance to their inland homes and feared reliving the hardships 
and tragic losses, particularly among women and children, that they had 
experienced while journeying to Fernando Po.95 Moreover, rumours 
about the treatment by the Allied powers of those loyal to the Germans 
added to their concerns.96

In his communication with the minister, Barrera emphasised his efforts 
to secure reassurances from the French consul.97 He sought guarantees 
that the repatriated individuals would not face repercussions upon their 
return, regardless of their past loyalties. Seemingly unaware of Barrera’s 
plan and actions, the British and French ambassadors in Madrid separately 
sent similar letters to the Spanish minister of state. Their primary concern 
was the long duration of the initial transport by sea, expressing 
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dissatisfaction with the potential extension of the repatriation timeline, 
estimating that ‘it would take several years to repatriate all the natives in 
question’.98 Additionally, they raised objections, pointing out the poten
tial damage to their nations’ prestige.99

An illustrative example is Karl Atangana’s return to Cameroon. In 
July 1919, the German ambassador wrote to Spanish Minister of State 
Salvador Bermúdez de Castro (the Marquis of Lema) to inquire about the 
possibility of Atangana travelling from Fernando Po to Germany to 
retrieve his daughter, the above-mentioned Katharina, who was already 
there.100 The Spanish government approved this request,101 informing 
Governor Barrera of the decision and also notifying the Allied government 
in Douala.102 As Paramount Leader of the Ewondo and Bane and recruiter 
of troops and carriers, Atangana was a key figure for the German admin
istration of Yaoundé, so much so that Paul Dettinger, the interned district 
governor of Yaoundé, initially refused to leave Fernando Po without 
him.103

Atangana arrived at the port of Cádiz on 22 September 1919 and 
promptly boarded the express train to Madrid, accompanied by his son, 
Juan Ndenge, setting himself up in lodgings only a 15 minute walk from the 
Royal Palace. The Spanish newspaper, Nuevo Mundo, featured Atangana as 
the prominent figure of the week, publishing a comprehensive photo
graphic report on him and his son. The newspaper showcased ‘Chief’ 
Atangana in a European-style suit, being served a hot beverage by 
a Spanish maid, while his son was depicted in a ‘modern flannel pyjama’.104

The article displayed the superimposed portraits of the ‘King of the 
Pamúes’, as dubbed by the newspaper, and his heir. Interestingly, this title 
suggests that the newspaper felt Atangana had influence in Spanish 
colonial territory, as the Pamúes were the dominant group in Río Muni 
and speakers of Fang, a language intelligible to Ewondo speakers like 
Atangana. Additionally, the piece mentioned his 17-year-old daughter 
studying in Germany as well as Atangana’s own academic achievements, 
noting his pursuit of two separate degrees in philosophy and science as 
well as engineering, and his affiliation with the Catholic faith.105

The newspaper also noted Atangana’s linguistic prowess in German, 
English, Italian, and Spanish, stating that his purpose in Madrid was 
twofold: to express gratitude to King Alfonso XIII for the years of protec
tion in Fernando Po and to seek the king’s assistance in ensuring his 
community’s well-being upon their return to Cameroon, which was now 
under the control of the Allied powers.106 A letter to the king’s private 
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secretary, Emilio Torres, bore the inscription ‘Carlos Atangana, Jefe 
Superior de los Jaundes y Banes del Kamerón’, a title bestowed on him 
by the German government of Cameroon five months before the out
break of war. In poetic Spanish, Atangana expressed his commitment to 
respecting the power balance emerging from the peace treaties. Yet, he 
earnestly implored for help, requesting that he, his family, and compa
triots residing in Europe be allowed to return to Cameroon in peace.107

Atangana was not allowed to travel to Germany, but in October 1919, 
King Alfonso XIII’s private secretary issued a visa for his daughter to enter 
Spain. Once reunited in Spain, they travelled once more to Fernando Po, 
where Atangana paid out wages to those remaining internees who had 
been soldiers under his command, before arriving in Douala on 
28 November 1920.108 Like other returning Cameroonians, Atangana 
made one last transimperial journey – Douala was now part of French 
Cameroon. Atangana was viewed with suspicion by the new French 
authorities who prevented his return to Yaoundé, sending him instead 
to Dschang in the north of the country until they were satisfied that he 
would work with the new colonial administration.

Echoes and Legacies of Spanish Internment

Even after the signing of the Treaty of Versailles, which confirmed the loss 
of Germany’s colonies, the German government of Cameroon in exile in 
Madrid attempted to administer the colony by acting as a guardian of its 
subjects. On 12 September 1919, in a radio communication to Germany’s 
Colonial Office, the German Embassy in Madrid requested that Berlin 
secure safe passage for one Adija-Lifida and a retinue of 15 people to 
complete a pilgrimage to Mecca, to reward his ‘faithful endurance’ (treues 
Aushalten). Adija-Lifida was still interned in Fernando Po, but his transfer 
to Spain had been approved and the communication requested that the 
German Reich make the necessary arrangements for the remainder of his 
pilgrimage. The blunt reply was to query whether Adija-Lifida understood 
that Mecca was now in British hands.109

While failing to secure passage of pilgrims to Mecca, the German 
Embassy at least had some success in getting German citizens back to 
Germany. On 11 October 1919, the Spanish government announced that 
it would allow internees to leave the country as long as they could 
provide a German travel pass stating their port of departure. The 
German government then began issuing travel grants for travel from 
Spanish ports to Germany via Italy, Switzerland, the Netherlands or 
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directly to Hamburg.110 To support those seeking repatriation, on 
4 November 1919 the German authorities in Madrid sent Gustav 
Bubeck, Magda Bubeck’s husband, to Bilbao to manage the influx of 
Germans who were to depart from the port. Bubeck acted as a liaison 
between the local consul and the captain of the ship Atlante (sometimes 
referred to as Atlanta), which was waiting to repatriate the arriving 
Germans. It fell to Bubeck to make sure that the catering and provisions 
such as blankets were up to standard.111 The Atlante left Bilbao on 
24 November with 319 persons on board for repatriation to Germany 
via Italy.112

A rare but illuminating example of the public memory of the war in 
Cameroon and the internment is Johann Philip Glock’s 1922 book, Es war 
einmal! ein Kameruner Immortellenkranz Deutscher Koloniallieder—an unu
sual collection of 30 original songs that memorialise the war in Cameroon. 
In his foreword, Glock explained that he had written the songs to encou
rage Germans to sing about Cameroon to keep the memory of the colony 
alive and to expose what he saw as the lies and deceit of the Versailles 
Treaty. Glock had not been in Cameroon during the war, nor had he ever 
been to Africa, as evidenced by the book’s inaccurate references to 
Cameroon’s wildlife. He had served as a chaplain in the Prussian army 
during the 1870/71 war and was keen to point out his credentials as 
a veteran. However, he had family connections to the colony—two of his 
children were living in Cameroon at the outbreak of the war. His son had 
spent around ten years in Douala as a lieutenant and was killed in action on 
6 September 1914. His daughter was expelled from Cameroon by British 
forces in 1914 after being rounded up and publicly paraded ‘under the 
laughing eyes of the [people of] Douala’. According to Glock, her house was 
then ransacked and she was repatriated to Germany via Fernando Po, 
Spain, Italy, and Switzerland.113 He lost another son at Amiens in 1917 
and another to influenza in 1920. (He had ten children in total.)

While unusual in their medium, the songs all touch on the usual tropes 
of the war in Cameroon. They contain praise for German fighters, such as 
Pallottiner missionary Alfons, who tried to blow up the British ship The 
Dwarf with an improvised torpedo, and allege the use of bounties 
(Kopfgeld) by the British to encourage the capture of German 
soldiers.114 Glock criticises Cameroonians who had taken up European 
customs but extols the Askari who fought for Germany. His songs describe 
the battles and the achievements of plantation owners and engineers in 
German Cameroon; he berates the British, French, Belgians, and other 
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colonial powers for their mismanagement of their empires, as a rebuke to 
the issuance of the League of Nations Mandate, which deemed Germany 
unfit to be an imperial power.

In his introduction, Glock claimed that his house in Bad Neuheim was 
a centre for knowledge transfer about the war, as many veterans and 
others returning from internment visited him there to discuss the war. He 
hoped that these conversations, coupled with his own research, would 
produce songs that were not only personal but also authentic. The fore
word was wittingly signed on the 50th anniversary of the Kaiser’s procla
mation of the German empire in Versailles on 18 January 1871.

Glock recounts the transferred knowledge of internment across wars, 
recalling the Boer concentration camps as well as the camp system 
established in India as evidence of Britain’s unworthiness to run an 
empire. For France, too, he cites the treatment of people in Madagascar 
and wartime examples of the French internment camps in Abomey 
(Dahomey), recounting forced labour and punishments such as floggings 
with hippo-hide whips and the application of thumb-screws, all done by 
indigenous Black soldiers on defenceless Germans. He reserves praise for 
Spain and Fernando Po in the song Fernando Poo, das Pathmos der 
Kameruner Exulanten, describing the island as a haven from war, raids 
by British ‘gentlemen’ and attacks by ‘schwarze Wichter’ (black goblins). 
Fernando Po was also a haven from internment by the Allied forces, as he 
says, and from France’s ‘eternal shame’ (interment in Dahomey).

Glock based his praise of Spain and condemnation of the Allies on his 
imagining of how the Germans had experienced their time in captivity. 
This is similar to the imagined encounters of ‘Germans’ with ‘natives’ in 
the colonial fantasy as formulated by Susan Zantop, with Glock infusing 
a German Heimatlied style.115 Indeed, with the loss of Cameroon and 
Germans being barred from travelling to the territory until the mid-1920s, 
Glock sings of the Kamerun Collection at the Stuttgart Völker Museum as 
a site of memory where one can go to remember those who had worked 
(and died) to create German Cameroon. Many, however, did not return to 
Cameroon from Germany, or write about it, and quite a few chose to 
remain in Spain, making it the final stop on their transimperial journey.

Conclusions

The outbreak of the First World War created a global network of 
internment facilities on an unprecedented scale. The belligerent 
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empires operated internment camps in their African territories not only 
for combatant prisoners of war but also for civilian internees. Our case 
study of German internees in Spanish Guinea and their transfer to 
Spain highlights that transcontinental internment was not the exclu
sive preserve of the belligerent powers. Even in the Spanish case, one 
can see that First World War internment was a much more mobile affair 
than previously assumed.

The German army’s retreat from Cameroon into neutral Spanish terri
tory sheds light on how the Spanish government navigated pressures 
from the belligerent powers concerning its African dominions. The estab
lishment of a European War Office illustrates how Spain maintained its 
neutral stance as a European power while engaging in humanitarian 
interventions within a lingering imperial context. The First World War 
involved a redrawing of the imperial map, with the German army in 
Cameroon embarking on what became a transimperial and transconti
nental journey to internment in a neutral country.

We structured our article to outline the diverse trajectories experienced 
by German Cameroonians as they sought refuge in Spanish Guinea during 
and immediately after the First World War. Our aim was to delineate their 
overarching journeys, highlighting the global mobility of their intern
ment. However, prospective research avenues could delve more deeply 
into distinct geographical segments of these routes, spanning Fernando 
Po, Spain, Germany, or Cameroon, which still remain understudied. 
Alternatively, future research could concentrate on specific subgroups 
within the larger cohort – civilians, military officers, women, European 
or African communities – and engage in comparative analyses. Another 
approach could involve a detailed exploration of microhistories, focusing 
on individual narratives.

Some interned Germans remained in Spain after the war, and their 
story continues to capture the imagination of Spanish journalists and 
novelists. The incident reported in The Daily Telegraph and quoted at 
the beginning of this article, where a young woman allegedly killed 
a German in self-defence, was recounted as true by the exiled Spanish 
author Ramón J. Sender in his 1957 autobiography/autofiction.116 As 
recently as April 2024, Sergio del Molino published a novel titled The 
Germans (Los alemanes) that portrays several generations of Germans 
from Cameroon who settled in Zaragoza. In a promotional interview, del 
Molino emphatically stated, ‘This story was completely unknown, utterly 
forgotten’.117
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To address and correct such historical lacunae, researchers need to 
adopt a methodology akin to our approach, bringing together various 
sources such as government documents, ego-documents, newspapers, 
photographs, letters, memoirs, and others, all originating from diverse 
linguistic and national backgrounds. This approach is essential to con
struct a nuanced narrative capable of rectifying prevailing myths and 
shedding light on a topic that has traditionally been marginalised, 
thereby contributing further to our understanding of the global dimen
sions of the First World War.

Johann Philip Glock sang about Fernando Po as being a weathervane 
for German settlers in Cameroon, who could judge the climate based on 
the clouds coming from the island. In a similar manner, the internment of 
Germans on Fernando Po and their subsequent transfer to Spain can 
serve as a weathervane to assess the role of Spanish neutrality during 
the war. Glock’s ode to Fernando Po was based on his own imagining of 
how Spanish captivity had provided a safe haven from the collapse of 
Germany’s colony: ‘Here under the Spanish flag,/Blows the wind of 
peace,/Fernando Poo, we Germans salute you faithfully!’ 118
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